# **REGIONAL DISTRICT OF BULKLEY-NECHAKO**

# COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE MEETING

# Thursday, November 5, 2015

PRESENT:	Chairperson	Bill Miller	
	Directors	Taylor Bachrach Eileen Benedict Shane Brienen Tom Greenaway Dwayne Lindstrom – left at 12:08 p.m. Thomas Liversidge Rob MacDougall Rob Newell Mark Parker Jerry Petersen Darcy Repen Luke Strimbold – left at 1:13 p.m. Gerry Thiessen	
	Director Absent	Mark Fisher, Electoral Area "A" (Smithers Rural)	
	Alternate Director	Stoney Stoltenberg, Electoral Area "A" (Smithers Rural)	
	Staff	Gail Chapman, Chief Administrative Officer Hans Berndorff, Financial Administrator Janine Dougall, Director of Environmental Services – left at 2:56 p.m. Deborah Jones-Middleton, Protective Services Manager – left at 2:56 p.m. Jason Llewellyn, Director of Planning – left at 2:56 p.m. Corrine Swenson, Manager of Regional Economic Development – left at 2:56 p.m. Wendy Wainwright, Executive Assistant	
CALL TO ORDER		Chair Miller called the meeting to order at 10:35 a.m.	
AGENDA & SUPPLEMENTARY AGENDA		Moved by Alternate Director Stoltenberg Seconded by Director Petersen	
<u>C.W.2015-8-1</u>		"That the Agenda of the Regional District of Bulkley-Nechako Committee of the Whole meeting of November 5, 2015 be approved; and further that the Supplementary Agenda be received."	
		(All/Directors/Majority) CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY	

Committee of the Whole November 5, 2015 Page 2

#### MINUTES

<u>Committee of the Whole</u>	Moved by Director MacDougall
<u>Minutes – October 8, 2015</u>	Seconded by Director Brienen
<u>C.W.2015-8-2</u>	"That the Committee of the Whole meeting minutes of October 8, 2015 be received."

(All/Directors/Majority)

#### CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY

#### PRE-BUDGET PLANNING SESSION

## Chair Bill Miller, Electoral Area "B" (Burns Lake Rural)

Chair Miller mentioned that the pre-budget planning session is the first of the budget sessions. He spoke of the importance of the budget process and the intent to inform each of the Directors on the workings of Regional District budgets and financial statements. There are many intricacies of municipal, rural and general government and it is important to understand the process. Chair Miller noted that there are significant differences between a Regional District budget process and a municipal budget process. He also commented on the differences between a business budget process in comparison to a Regional District. It is important for the Regional Board to recognize the impact of Regional District taxation in relationship to the province and the actual impacts in regard to decisions made at the Board table. Chair Miller spent a considerable amount of time with Hans Berndorff, Financial Administrator when he was first elected to the RDBN to understand the complexity of a Regional District budget process. Every year Chair Miller has reviewed the budget in order to provide information to the residents of the region in regard to services provided. Communities within the region, along with the rural areas, have become much more robust and he noted that the information assists in reducing misunderstandings between municipal and rural taxpayers.

Each electoral area has individual, sub-regional and regional services that require individual consideration. It is important to investigate economies of scale throughout the whole region in order to minimize costs and provide a more efficient region.

Chair Miller noted that industrial development such as Mount Milligan and Endako Mine Expansion projects benefit the entire Regional District.

Chair Miller mentioned that Mr. Berndorff has a very deep understanding of the RDBN and the budget process and can provide information to the Regional Board that is easily understood. He encouraged the Regional Board to utilize Mr. Berndorff's expertise if they have questions.

#### Gail Chapman, Chief Administrative Officer

Ms. Chapman commented that there have been a number of ways that staff has presented the budget to the Regional Board in the past. Staff will provide an update of the projects that the Board has identified as priorities and provide an outline of projects for 2016. The pre-budget planning session provides the Board an opportunity to provide direction for staff in moving forward for the 2016 budget year. Staff are currently meeting regarding departmental budgets and the 1<sup>st</sup> draft is what is presented today. The prioritized budget can then be brought back with costs for the Regional Board to review.

#### Hans Berndorff, Financial Administrator

Mr. Berndoff mentioned that the pre-budget planning session provides an analysis of what has occurred thus far and hopefully will provide an opportunity for good interaction and discussion to provide guidelines from the Board to staff.

Background Statement: Integration of strategic, financial plans are vital to success in order to maximize current and financial performance.

#### Administration – Gail Chapman, Chief Administrative Officer

Ms. Chapman noted that the Administration Department are generalists and oversee the everyday workings of the RDBN.

Ms. Chapman provided an update in regard to the Strategic Priorities that were identified and adopted by the Regional Board in January, 2015

#### Now

- Fair Share Committee throughout the year:
  - Executive Discussion;
- Legacy Proposal Bulkley-Nechako Industrial Paper Complete:
  - Forwarded to all municipalities for Mayor and Council approval;
  - o Presentation to municipalities;
  - Executive Committee formulation of strategy;
  - Discussion with companies;
- Work Camp Strategy:
  - Research and report completed Board Receipt;
- Waste Management Strategy:
  - Board reading/reviewing.
- Internet/Cell Phone Connectivity:
- Meeting scheduled at UBCM;

#### Next

-

- Diversification Strategy (Mid-Term Timbre Supply):
  - Forestry Committee engagement with MFLNRO;

## Council Advocacy

- Nechako Watershed:
  - Meeting attended;
- Wildfire Mitigation:
  - Workshop with Province/Industry/Local Government/OBAC/Fraser Fort George Regional District/COFI/Community Forest held October 13, 2015;
- CN Emergency Meeting and Exercise:
  - Region-Wide Meeting held and coordinated by Protective Services Manager March 25, 2015.

Ms. Chapman provided an overview of 2016 Projects and brought forward potential additional projects. Ms. Chapman noted that Parks/Roads/Docks/Recreation is being brought forward at a future Rural Directors Meeting for review and discussion.

Discussion took place regarding the 2016 RDBN Staff Compensation Report project. The report includes comparables to other Regional Districts of similar size and composition, industry, and the private sector. It was noted that due to privacy, industry is not always forthcoming with staff compensation information.

Director's Project Wish List

- 1. Healthcare/Seniors Services/Youth/Mental Health for Youth:
  - a. On Potential Additional Projects List;
  - b. SNRHD investigate number of beds being utilized in acute care facilities by seniors;
- 2. Re-use Shed:
  - i. Environmental Services.
- 3. Internet/Cell Phone Connectivity:
  - a. Strategic Priority.
- 4. Destination Tourism Website an inventory of tourism assets
  - a. Economic Development;
- 5. Education
  - a. Research to determine the number of non-licensed teachers that are teaching
  - b. Important for individuals moving to the region to have good education;
- 6. Parks/Roads/Docks/Recreation:
  - a. On Potential Additional Projects;
  - b. Rural Directors Committee to discuss;
  - c. Focus on local residents utilizing the recreation in the region;
  - d. Increased impacts to roads with the amount of weight from industrial usage a concern.
- 7. Transportation
  - a. Omineca Beetle Action Coalition current priority;
  - b. Log hauling changes;
- 8. Agriculture Sector Engagement
  - a. 2016 Projects List;
  - b. Agriculture key to sustainable communities;
  - c. Planting of trees on Ag land;
  - d. Hay Compression Stations creating a hay shortage;
    - i. Causing hay prices to rise;
    - ii. Cattle becoming no longer sustainable due to the cost of feed;
  - e. Land being purchased for hunting by foreign individuals/groups;
    - i. Initiative in Saskatchewan to stop foreign ownership of land;
  - f. Lack of Ag land for sale.

Discussion took place regarding Board advocacy projects.

- Healthcare/Seniors Services/Youth/Mental Health for Youth;
  - Community focus and give direction to staff;
  - Don't lose sight of the issue.
- Education:
  - (Policing/Healthcare/Education linked together in attracting and retaining residents to the region)
- Transportation;
- Parks/Roads/Docks/Recreation;
- Agriculture;
- Internet/Cell Phone Connectivity.

Chair Miller commented that many of the items on the 2016 projects list and Potential Additional projects are Board advocacy items.

Director Bachrach noted that some issues are not entirely something the Regional Board can control and it is difficult to achieve measurable goals.

Director Petersen mentioned that there are a number of issues that can arise throughout the year that require staff time and it is important for the Regional Board to allow for these incidents in staff work plans.

Director MacDougall spoke of the importance of sharing successes throughout the region and utilizing best practices.

## Finance – Hans Berndorff, Financial Administrator

Mr. Berndorff reviewed the Finance Department staff time allocation, daily tasks, 2015 Projects Completed and 2016 Projects.

Director Repen asked staff to highlight changes/increases/decreases in the budget to provide clear information. Mr. Berndorff mentioned that the quarterly reports provided to the Regional Board outline actual results in comparison to the budget and they could be colour coded to provide a clear outline of the changes.

Discussion took place regarding communication with the taxpayer. The RDBN has utilized different forms of communication. All budget meetings are held in a public forum, have had public meetings, met with municipal councils, and with any groups upon request such as the Bulkley Valley Pool Committee. Discussion took place regarding the Directors' responsibility to provide information to its electorate, and that communication may need to be customized in order to provide information for that particular region.

Mr. Berndorff mentioned that the RDBN utilizes a broker for its natural gas usage and has seen a notable decrease in cost.

Director Bachrach mentioned the Bulkley Valley Pool being one of the largest contributors to greenhouse gas emissions in the RDBN and that the possible usage of waste heat from the arena may alleviate the issue. Discussion took place regarding the completion of a feasibility study and the possible costs of completing a study for the Bulkley Valley Pool to utilize the waste heat from the arena. The Bulkley Valley Pool Committee has been provided the information for consideration in the past and it would be the committees' initiative if the project is to move forward.

Discussion took place regarding the proposed new street lighting service on Laidlaw Road in Electoral Area "A" (Smithers Rural). The possible usage of LED lighting and the process undertaken by BC Hydro to implement the lights were brought forward for discussion. Several communities are investigating changing street lighting to LED. The Regional District does not pay BC Hydro to install the lights but pays an electricity flat rate monthly fee for the lights. The Regional Board discussed advocating for street lighting to be converted to LED.

## Break for Lunch at 12:08 p.m.

## Reconvened at 12:53 p.m.

# Regional Economic Development – Corrine Swenson, Manager Regional Economic Development

Ms. Swenson noted that most Regional Economic Development initiatives are action based. She provided a review of 2015 Projects and 2016 Department Priorities and Projects.

Discussion took place regarding marketing initiatives that could promote the assets within the Regional District to appeal to individuals to work in the region. Director Repen mentioned the possibility of targeting agricultural schools. Ms. Swenson noted that the Regional Skills Gap Analysis Strategic Workforce Opportunities Team (SWOT) intends to complete and investment readiness initiative. Ms. Swenson is also moving forward with a SWOT Coordinator. Director Petersen noted that he has received positive feedback regarding the initiatives being under taken by the Regional Skills Gap Analysis SWOT.

Director Newell asked if the RDBN had a complete inventory of recreational and tourism assets within the region. Ms. Swenson commented that the last completed inventory was in the 2010 RDBN Tourism Plan. She also noted that the RDBN Planning Department has an inventory of trails and docks in the region.

Director Bachrach spoke of concerns regarding the two economic development functions for Smithers.

Discussion took place regarding the Parks/Roads/Docks/Recreation Project and information provided to the Regional Board. Chair Miller mentioned that the item will be discussed at a future Rural Directors Committee meeting.

Ms. Swenson spoke to the 2016 Agriculture project to investigate investment food processing companies who require a raw supply of produce. Ms. Swenson has spoken to Beyond the Market regarding the project and they have not completed such a project for produce. Discussion took place regarding the importance of agriculture and the stresses that are being imposed on the agriculture sector. The industry is finding it challenging to find qualified people to work in the sector.

#### Protective Services – Deborah Jones-Middleton, Protective Services Manager

Ms. Jones-Middleton provided an overview of percentage of staff resources, 2015 Projects Completed and 2016 Projects.

Director Newell mentioned that he had attended the Topley Rural Fire Protection Area Expansion and Road Rescue and Medical First Responder public meeting for the referenda and noted the positive response from those in attendance.

Director Petersen noted his concerns regarding the staff time required during an emergency operations activation and the challenges faced by staff with the increased work load from the province downloading emergency preparedness to local government.

Discussion took place regarding mass animal carcass disposal and the challenges encountered when there is an incident.

Director Parker spoke of the success of the 9-1-1 presentation to school children.

Discussion took place regarding the Regional Board continuing to advocate the federal government in regard to safety concerns regarding CN Rail.

## Planning and Land Use Management – Jason Llewellyn, Director of Planning

Mr. Llewellyn provided an overview of the Planning and Land Use Management Function staffing and resources allocation, 2015 Notable Projects/Work and 2016 Notable Projects. Due to the number of pipeline development projects anticipated allowance has been made in the work plan.

The joint OCP (Official Community Plan) review of Electoral Areas "B" (Burns Lake Rural), "E" (Francois/Ootsa Lake Rural) and contract with Village of Burns Lake pilot project, as directed by the Regional Board is not currently on the 2016 Proposed Notable Projects list. The project will be revenue neutral and will be part of the 2<sup>nd</sup> draft budget process.

#### GIS and House Numbering Function – Jason Llewellyn, Director of Planning

Mr. Llewellyn provided an overview of the GIS and House Number Function and 2016 Proposed Notable Projects. He spoke of the First Nations reserve addressing capacity building project and that the RDBN is not being made aware of address changes and/or development of new housing thus the need for the project.

#### Building Inspection Function – Jason Llewellyn, Director of Planning

Mr. Llewellyn provided an overview of the Building Inspection Function and spoke to the recent changes to the *Building Act*. Municipalities will require building inspectors to have level three certification in the future.

#### Bylaw Enforcement Function – Jason Llewellyn, Director of Planning

Mr. Llewellyn noted the benefits of having a Bylaw Enforcement Officer present in the region.

Discussion took place regarding the ability to address non-compliance and a culture of disrespect for the rules. Director Bachrach spoke to the possibility of Planning Department staff completing an analysis of how many requests for variance are made prior to building, how many are made after the building is already in place and how many times enforcement action has been taken when non-compliance occurs.

Discussion took place regarding the Regional Board's past decisions in regard to variance applications. Mr. Llewellyn noted that in 2012 the Regional Board developed a policy that directs and outlines for staff its wishes on how to address bylaw enforcement issues. It clearly outlines the process for staff to try to resolve an issue and if the issue can't be resolved then seeking direction from the Board and a more formal enforcement process can be undertaken at the Board's direction. In situations wherein an application is made to correct an issue of non-compliance the Board can have a policy but due to legislative requirements it is illegal for the policy to direct the Board to make a certain decision. Each situation has to be dealt with on a case by case basis.

Reviewing the enforcement policy and adding it as a project for future review and discussion in the Planning Department's work plan was discussed. Discussion took place regarding the challenges of making decisions in respect to land use non-compliance. A fine schedule was discussed for variance, building and zoning infractions.

Discussion took place regarding water permitting regulations that the province has been discussing. Mr. Llewellyn noted that he has yet to receive formal specifications from the province and can follow-up further.

## Environmental Services – Janine Dougall, Director of Environmental Services

Ms. Dougall noted that Environmental Services is an operational based department. She provided an overview of staffing allocation and equipment utilized in the department.

Ms. Dougall reviewed the services provided in the Environmental Services Department and that Solid Waste Management is the largest component. She reviewed the 2015 Projects Completed or Pending Completion in 2015. She noted that the infrastructure purchased to initiate Knockholt and Clearview Landfill Operations is currently under budget.

Ms. Dougall spoke of the Phase 3 development at Knockholt Landfill. The project was initially slated for 2017 but has been moved to 2016 due to the increased amount of industrial construction demolition for example the demolition of the Burns Lake Hospital. Potential pipeline and camp development may also increase the need for further capacity at Knockholt Landfill. She also noted that the Ministry of Environment is currently reviewing its new landfill guidelines and they may or may not impact the development of the Knockholt Landfill.

Ms. Dougall noted that the Environmental Services work plan is very aggressive and the department does not currently have the capacity to complete all the work. Consideration may need to be given to hiring a contractor to complete some of the work.

Director Repen spoke of tipping fees to offset the dumping of industrial demolition waste. Ms. Dougall noted that fees are currently charged at \$60 per metric tonne for Construction and Demolition (C&D) Waste and land clearing waste for anything over 2 m<sup>3</sup> (level pickup box load). The RDBN also has fees for the removal of ozone depleting substances (ODS) at \$16 per item and for contaminated soils approved to be brought to RDBN Landfill sites. In the past the Regional Board implemented the fees in the attempt to subsidize the estimated landfill cost of approximately \$100 per metric tonne. That fee has not been reviewed or increased since implementation. Discussion took place regarding industry paying taxation to the RDBN and costs incurred for industrial waste. Discussion also took place regarding the possible increase to the ODS charge.

Director Repen commented that a regional hub for recycling may be beneficial for the region and there is ongoing conversation with the Smithers and Area Recycling Society regarding the idea of having a one stop shop.

Discussion took place regarding the usage of landfill gasses. The usage of wood waste to address methane gasses was discussed, but further investigation is required.

Chair Miller mentioned that the Burns Lake Chamber of Commerce has spoken to him regarding the 2016 cardboard ban. Ms. Dougall is meeting with the Burns Lake Chamber of Commerce on November 23, 2015.

Concerns were brought forward in regard to companies outside the RDBN bringing cardboard to RDBN Transfer Station sites due to the lack of a cardboard ban at the sites.

## Break at 2:32 p.m.

## Reconvened at 2:46 p.m.

## Discussion:

## RE: Additional Projects to be considered

Ms. Chapman provided an overview of additional projects. A number of the projects suggested are currently in departmental work plans and in the advocacy portion of work plans.

Committee of the Whole November 5, 2015 Page 9

# PRE-BUDGET PLANNING SESSION (CONT'D)

The following additional items for staff workplans:

# Administration

- Education:
  - Teacher shortage;
  - o Class sizes;
- Transportation Advocacy
  - Continuing to advocate;
  - o Log haul changes concern;
- Agricultural Sector (Admin/Planning) (on work plan)
  - o Sustainability;
  - o Impacts of compression hay facilities;
  - Planting of trees on Agricultural Land;
  - Agricultural Sector Meetings;
  - Health Services Community Based;
- Parks/Roads/Docks/Recreation on work plan;

## Finance

-

Highlight and colour code increases;

# Protective Services

- Spill response;
- CN Rail issues;

# **Bylaw Enforcement (Planning)**

- Review policy in regard to enforcement issues:
  - Investigate a fine structure;

## **Environmental Services**

- Regional hub for recycling;
  - Review tipping fees Construction & Demolition and general tipping fees;
    - o Solid waste management plan review tipping fee structure;
    - ODS and C&D investigate budget implications to revenue stream;
- Continue discussions regarding LNG development infrastructure implications:
  - o Work camps.
  - Researching the ability to address fees/bylaws for the development of work camps and waste generated.

Moved by Director Repen Seconded by Director Stoltenberg

C.W.2015-8-3

"That the Committee of the Whole recommend that the Regional District of Bulkley-Nechako include the following items for consideration on staff work plans:

# Administration

- o Education:
  - Teacher shortage;
  - Class sizes;
- Transportation Advocacy
  - Continuing to advocate;
  - Log haul changes concern;
- Agricultural Sector (Admin/Planning) (on work plan)
  - Sustainability;
  - Impacts of compression hay facilities;
  - Planting of trees on Agricultural Land;
  - Agricultural Sector Meetings;
- Health Services Community Based;
- Parks/Roads/Docks/Recreation (on work plan)

#### Finance

• Highlight and colour code increases;

# **Protective Services**

- Spill response;
- CN Rail issues;

# Bylaw Enforcement (Planning)

- o Review policy in regard to enforcement issues:
  - Investigate a fine structure;

# **Environmental Services**

- Regional hub for recycling;
- Review tipping fees Construction & Demolition and general tipping fees;
  - Solid waste management plan review tipping fee structure;
  - ODS and C&D investigate budget implications to revenue stream;
- Continue discussions regarding LNG development infrastructure implications:
  - Work camps.

(All/Directors/Majority)

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY

## INVITATION

Physical Activity and Health	Moved by Director Repen	
Summit – November 20, 2015	Seconded by Director Petersen	
-Prince George, B.C.	-	

C.W.2015-8-4

"That the Committee of the Whole receive the invitation titled "Physical Activity and Health Summit on November 20, 2015 in Prince George, B.C."

(All/Directors/Majority)

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY

#### SUPPLEMENTARY AGENDA

#### **INVITATION**

<u>First Nations Health Authority/</u> Moved by Director MacDougall <u>B.C. Ministry of Transportation</u> Seconded by Director Brienen <u>And Infrastructure</u> -<u>Transportation Symposium</u> <u>Invitation -Smithers, BC: Tuesday,</u> November 24, 2015

C.W.2015-8-5

"That the Committee of the Whole receive the invitation from the First Nations Health Authority and B.C. Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure titled "Transportation Symposium Invitation in Smithers, B.C.: Tuesday, November 24, 2015."

(All/Directors/Majority)

#### CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY

Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure indicated the Symposium is for staff to attend. Director MacDougall is attending on behalf of the Omineca Beetle Action Coalition. Committee of the Whole November 5, 2015 Page 11

# INVITATION (CONT'D)

	Discussion took place regarding the number of people along the Highway 16 corridor living in rural areas and that there should be representation from rural areas. The invitation is for two representatives from communities. Concerns were brought forward in regard to addressing the transportation issues along Highway 16.		
	Discussion took place regarding the recommendation brought forward regarding the issue along with the endorsement at the Union of B.C. Municipalities Convention in the past.		
	Moved by Director Greenaway Seconded by Director Stotlenberg		
<u>C.W.2015-8-6</u>	"That the Committee of the Whole recommend that the Regional District of Bulkley-Nechako authorize the attendance of Director Newell at the First Nations Health Authority and B.C. Ministry of Transportation and Infrastructure Transportation Symposium in Smithers, B.C. on Tuesday, November 24, 2015."		
	(All/Directors/Majority)	CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY	
NEW BUSINESS			
Re-use Shed Information	Discussion took place regarding the timeline that the Regional Board will receive a summary of the Re-Use Shed public meeting information. Ms. Chapman noted that a report will be brought forward for consideration at the December 10 <sup>th</sup> meeting date. Discussion took place in regard to having a Waste Management Committee Meeting on December 10, 2015.		
Spill Response Forum	Il Response Forum in regard to a Spill Response Forum.		
ADJOURNMENT	Moved by Director MacDougall Seconded by Director Stoltenberg		
C.W.2015-8-7	"That the meeting be adjourned at 3:10 p.m."		

<u>C.W.2015-8-7</u> "That the meeting be adjourned at 3:10 p.m."

(All/Directors/Majority)

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY

Bill Miller, Chair

Wendy Wainwright, Executive Assistant